**STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from the Michigan Court of Appeals
Hon. Henry Saad, Hon. Patrick Meter and Hon. Cynthia Stephens

VAN BUREN CHARTER TOWNSHIP,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v

VISTEON CORPORATION,

Defendant-Appellee.

Supreme Court Case No. _____
Court of Appeals No. 331789
Trial Court Case No. 15-008778-CK
Trial Court Judge: Hon. Muriel Hughes

**APPELLANT VAN BUREN CHARTER TOWNSHIP'S APPLICATION
FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL**

PROOF OF SERVICE

Kaveh Kashef (P64443)
Jennifer K. Green (P69019)
Clark Hill PLC
151 S. Old Woodward Avenue, Suite 200
Birmingham, MI 48009
(248) 642-9692 (Phone)
(248) 642-2174 (Fax)
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant Van Buren
Charter Township

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I. Did the Court of Appeals err when it held that there was no ripe controversy sufficient to render a declaratory judgment, yet actually adjudicated the substantive merits of the parties' contract dispute, which violated the rule prohibiting an adjudication on the merits when deciding threshold issues of justiciability and which deprived the Township of an appeal of appeal of right as to the interpretation of the contract?

The Township answers:	Yes.
Visteon answers:	No.
Trial Court answered:	No.
Court of Appeals answered:	No.
This Court should answer:	Yes.

II. Did the Court of Appeals err when it held that the Township's Declaratory Judgment claim was not yet ripe for adjudication simply because the injury under the parties' contract was not scheduled to occur until a future date, where it: (i) applied the wrong standard of review, (ii) misinterpreted the contract language, (iii) ignored controlling Michigan Supreme Court precedent holding that prospective breach and prospective injuries are sufficient to invoke a declaratory action and emphasizing that a key purpose behind a declaratory action is to enable parties to have their differences settled in advance of any actual injury?

The Township answers:	Yes.
Visteon answers:	No.
Trial Court answered:	No.
Court of Appeals answered:	No.
This Court should answer:	Yes.

III. Did the Court of Appeals err when it held that the Township's Breach of Contract claim was not ripe—despite the doctrine of anticipatory repudiation which gives a plaintiff the immediate right to sue if the opposing party states its intent that it will not perform the contract when the time for performance arrives—where the Court of Appeals based its holding solely on a single self-serving statement by Visteon's counsel at oral argument (which is not admissible evidence) and ignored the admissible record evidence before it in which Visteon repeatedly stated in writing that under no circumstances would Visteon make a payment under the parties' contract?

The Township answers:	Yes.
Visteon answers:	No.
Trial Court answered:	No.
Court of Appeals answered:	No.
This Court should answer:	Yes.

IV. Did the Court of Appeals err in applying the applicable standards of review—particularly here, where the case was at the initial pleading stage—when it held in favor of Visteon under MCR 2.116(C)(10), despite the fact that: (i) Visteon did not carry its initial burden as the moving party to properly support its motion with admissible evidence and instead presented mere attorney argument, and (ii) the court repeatedly failed to view the evidence in a light most favorable to the Township as the non-moving party, including going to so far as to *sua sponte* rule that the expert report attached to the Township’s complaint was insufficient evidence to support the Township’s claimed damages, even though the expert concluded that a shortfall was “certain” and “inevitable,” Visteon admitted in its discovery responses that it had no “objections” to the report, and Visteon did not support its Motion to Dismiss with a contrary expert report on damages?

The Township answers:	Yes.
Visteon answers:	No.
Trial Court answered:	No.
Court of Appeals answered:	No.
This Court should answer:	Yes.

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Township seeks leave to appeal the Court of Appeals' Opinion *Van Buren Charter Twp v Visteon Corp*, __ Mich App __; __ NW2d __; 2017 WL 2131517 (May 16, 2017) (Dkt. No. 331789) (the "Opinion"), which affirmed the trial court's grant of summary disposition in Visteon's favor on ripeness grounds. The Opinion (which is set for publication) should be reversed, as it runs afoul of long-standing Michigan precedent regarding ripeness, declaratory judgments, and anticipatory repudiation, and it violates the most basic rules relating to standards of review.

This is a time sensitive contract dispute over a settlement agreement entered into between the Township and Visteon (the "Agreement") in 2010, when Visteon was struggling financially and was in bankruptcy. Visteon's world headquarters, known as "Visteon Village," are located in the Township. In 2003, the Township, through its Local Development Financing Authority ("L DFA"), issued municipal bonds for the exclusive purpose of financing the construction of Visteon Village. The property taxes collected for Visteon Village are crucial to the Township and the L DFA, as those taxes are earmarked to cover the debt service on the municipal bonds. In the Agreement, the Township gave Visteon a drastic property tax reduction which the parties knew would leave the Township unable to meet future payment obligations on the bonds and would eventually create a payment shortfall in excess of \$30 million. As a result, in exchange for the tax reduction, Visteon promised it would later make additional payments to the Township to ensure the Township could cover any payment shortfalls on the bonds.

With the bond payment shortfall date calculated by the Township's expert rapidly approaching, Visteon now claims it has *no* financial obligations whatsoever to the Township under the Agreement, despite its express obligation under the Agreement to assist the Township in making "timely" payments on the bonds. Due to Visteon's repudiation of its obligations under the Agreement, the Township sued Visteon for breach of contract and also sought a

declaratory judgment. As its first responsive pleading, Visteon filed a motion for summary disposition arguing that the Township's claims were not ripe (the "Motion") because the payment shortfall had not yet occurred. The Trial Court agreed with Visteon that the case was not ripe and dismissed the Complaint without prejudice and the Township appealed. On appeal, despite the narrow scope of the ripeness inquiry before it, the Court of Appeals went beyond the issue of ripeness and adjudicated certain substantive rights and obligations under the Agreement (something the Trial Court did not even do, as the only issue was whether the dispute was ripe so that it could *eventually* proceed to an adjudication of the parties' respective contractual obligations). The Opinion contains several points of error.

First, the Court of Appeals violated the basic rule that when determining threshold issues of justiciability—such as standing, ripeness, mootness—a court should not reach the actual merits of the parties' case.

Second, in finding the Township's declaratory judgment claim unripe, the Court of Appeals ignored decades of case law holding that a declaratory judgment action can (and should) be initiated prior to any breach or injury. In fact, requiring present breach and present harm would be antithetical to the very purpose behind declaratory judgments, which is "to enable the parties to obtain adjudication of rights *before an actual injury occurs*, to settle a matter before it ripens into a violation of the law or a breach of contract, or to avoid multiplicity of actions by affording a remedy for declaring in expedient action the rights and obligations of all litigants." *UAW v Cent Mich Univ Trustees*, 295 Mich App 486, 495, 815 NW2d 132, 138 (2012) (emphasis in original).

Third, the Court of Appeals improperly found that the Township's breach of contract claim was not ripe. The Agreement imposes two contractual obligations on Visteon: (1) to negotiate with the Township to determine the amount of the bond payment shortfall; and (2) to

assist the Township in making timely payments on the bonds. The Township's contract claim is ripe because Visteon has breached its first obligation—the duty to negotiate—by failing to negotiate the amount of the impending shortfall. Further, Visteon has anticipatorily breached its payment obligation by taking the position that it owes nothing under the Agreement. In the Opinion, the Court of Appeals erroneously relied on a single self-serving, inadmissible statement by Visteon's counsel at oral argument, while ignoring a half dozen admissions where Visteon admitted that under no circumstances would it make a payment to the Township.

Fourth, the Court of Appeals played a role of fact-finder and *sua sponte* found the Township's unrefuted expert report to be invalid on its face and ruled that the expert report failed to credibly establish that a shortfall would even occur. Again, the standard of review and procedural posture at the time the Motion was decided are critical—this was a motion on whether the case could move forward to discovery, not a summary disposition motion under (C)(10) at the close of discovery or a *Daubert* motion. Moreover, even reviewed under a (C)(10) standard, Visteon presented *no* contrary admissible evidence to refute the Township's report.

GROUND FOR GRANTING LEAVE TO APPEAL

An application for leave to appeal to the Michigan Supreme Court must satisfy at least one of the grounds enumerated in MCR 7.305(B) to warrant this Court's review. This Application for Leave to Appeal ("Application") satisfies at least three of the enumerated bases.

First, the case has "has significant public interest and the case is one by or against the state or one of its agencies or subdivisions" under MCR 7.305(B)(2). The Township is a municipality which qualifies as a subdivision of the state, and there is intense public scrutiny surrounding this case, as thousands of Township residents will be impacted if the Township loses this appeal and is left with no choice but to await Visteon's breach, default on the bonds, and

then either seek a millage from its citizens or face a judgment levy to pay the multi-million dollar bond shortfall. Due to the magnitude of the shortfall, the Township urgently needs Visteon's liability decided now in order for it to plan appropriately and avoid financial catastrophe.

Second, the issues in the Application involve “legal principles of major significance to the state’s jurisprudence” (MCR 7.305(B)(3)) with respect to the proper standard of review to be applied to a ripeness question, for which there is currently conflicting case law and confusion, as acknowledged in the Opinion. (Ex. 1, Opinion, p. 2). For example, in May 2016, the Court of Appeals issued a decision holding that MCR 2.116(C)(4)—one of the subrules that the Motion was brought under—is not the proper rule to apply when reviewing a ripeness motion; instead, it held that ripeness analysis should be undertaken pursuant to MCR 2.116(C)(10). *Broz v Plante & Moran*, unpublished per curiam opinion of the Court of Appeals, issued May 17, 2016 (Docket No. 325884 at 4-5) (Ex. 2). Five months later, the court issued *Heritage Sustainable Energy, LLC v Heritage Wind Leasing, LLC*, unpublished per curiam opinion of the Court of Appeals, issued Oct. 20, 2016 (Docket No. 331279 at 2-3) (Ex. 3), in which the court also rejected the notion that MCR 2.116(C)(4) was the proper standard to apply to a ripeness motion, but held that MCR 2.116(C)(8) was the proper standard. In the Opinion (which is set for publication), the Court of Appeals acknowledged this conflict, noting “the parties contest the propriety of dismissal pursuant to MCR 2.116(C)(4)” but determined “[a]lthough we acknowledge inconsistencies between published decisions of this Court and more recent unpublished decisions regarding whether subrule (C)(4) supports dismissal for failure of justiciability grounds such as ripeness . . . we need not address the conflict here” because any error in applying the wrong standard of review was “harmless.” (Ex. 1, the Opinion, p. 2) The Township vigorously disagrees that the error is harmless. The review performed when analyzing a (C)(10) motion versus a (C)(8) motion is drastically different and can

easily change the outcome of a motion. That is particularly true here, where the ripeness motion was filed as the first responsive pleading prior to full discovery. Clarity from this Court is needed on this issue.¹

Third, the Opinion is “clearly erroneous and will cause material injustice” under MCR 7.305(B)(5)(a) and “conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals” under MCR 7.305(B)(5)(b). For example, (i) a declaratory action is clearly permitted under Michigan Supreme Court precedent before an injury or an actual breach of contract occurs yet the Court of Appeals refused to permit the Township to go forward; (ii) the Court of Appeals improperly adjudicated the substantive merits of a plaintiff’s contract claim under the guise of merely adjudicating a threshold issue of justiciability, such as ripeness; (iii) the Court of Appeals, in finding no basis for an anticipatory repudiation claim, ignored record evidence and instead relied *solely* on an inadmissible statement made by counsel at oral argument; and (iv) the Court of Appeals improperly assumed the role of fact finder and *sua sponte* deemed the Township’s expert report unsubstantiated and invalid on its face when the admissibility or reliability of the expert report was not even at issue in the underlying motion, the Trial Court never ruled upon that issue, and the report was unrefuted.

These errors violate Michigan published precedent and, to make matters worse, the Opinion is set for publication. For these reasons, the Township respectfully requests that this Court grant it leave to appeal the Opinion, or, alternatively, peremptorily reverse the Court of Appeals and remand this case to the trial court for discovery, and ultimately, an adjudication on the merits.

¹ Although some of the conflicting case law is unpublished and not binding for purposes of stare decisis, guidance from this Court is still needed due to the state of confusion.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. CONSTRUCTION OF VISTEON VILLAGE AND THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS

(1) The 2003 Bonds

Visteon is a global automotive parts supplier whose world headquarters (known as “Visteon Village”) are located in the Township.² (Ex. 4, Complaint and all exhibits thereto (Exhibits A-E) (the “Complaint”) at ¶ 1-2). In 2003, the construction of Visteon Village was financed through a combination of public and private financing, including via certain tax-exempt Tax Increment Bonds, Series 2003, which were issued on August 6, 2003 (the “2003 Bonds”). The 2003 Bonds consisted of \$21,610,000 of current interest bonds and \$6,589,656.35 of non-callable capital appreciation bonds. *Id.* at ¶ 12. Payments for the 2003 Bonds were funded by tax revenues captured from Visteon Village. *Id.* at ¶ 13. To pay for the 2003 Bonds, the Township planned to use property tax payments from those assessed on the taxable value of Visteon Village. *Id.* at ¶ 14.

At the time of the 2003 Bond issuance, payment schedules (the “Schedules”) were developed by the Township to illustrate projected future property tax valuations and to provide potential investors and ratings agencies with comfort that tax revenues would be sufficient to meet the debt service obligations for the 2003 Bonds. (Ex. 4, Complaint, ¶ 15). In developing the Schedules, it was assumed by the Parties that the value of Visteon Village would increase over time and that it would grow to a value of \$300 million, which would generate \$150 million in taxable value and sufficient revenue to meet the debt service on the bonds. *Id.* at ¶ 16. Quickly after the issuance of the 2003 Bonds and the completion of construction of Visteon Village, however, Visteon began negotiations with the Township seeking to *reduce* the taxable value of Visteon Village. *Id.* These negotiations resulted in two reductions in Visteon Village’s

² Visteon and Township will periodically be referred to as the “Parties” in this brief.

taxable value in exchange for lump-sum payments from Visteon. *Id.*

(2) The 2006 Bonds

By 2006, tax revenues from the Visteon Village already failed to meet the original projections, so the Township restructured the current interest bond portion of the 2003 Bonds to alleviate projected shortfalls. (Ex. 4, Complaint, ¶ 18). On June 15, 2006, Tax Increment Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2006 (the “2006 Bonds”) (collectively with the 2003 Bonds, the “Bonds”) were issued to advance refund the current interest portion of the 2003 Bonds. *Id.* This refunding delayed the repayment of a portion of the 2003 Bonds, thereby temporarily alleviating projected shortfalls. *Id.*

B. VISTEON’S BANKRUPTCY & THE PARTIES’ SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

On May 29, 2009, Visteon filed for bankruptcy (the “Bankruptcy”), and the Township filed a general unsecured claim based, in part, on Visteon’s failure to comply with the terms of certain Tax Abatement Agreements entered into in 2003. (Ex. 4, Complaint, ¶¶ 20-21). At the time of the Bankruptcy filing, the Township valued Visteon Village at approximately \$165 million, but Visteon argued that Visteon Village was worth much less due to declining property values in the real estate market. *Id.* at ¶ 22. As a result, in September 2009, Visteon sought yet another a reduction of the assessed value of Visteon Village and threatened legal action if the Parties could not reach an agreement on a reduced value. *Id.* at ¶ 23.

Ultimately, Visteon and the Township settled their various disputes and entered into an “Agreement and Mutual Release,” dated January 25, 2010 (the “Agreement”). (Ex. 4, Complaint, ¶ 24; Ex. 4(A), the Agreement). In the Agreement, the Parties resolved three principal disputes: (i) they agreed upon an assessed value for Visteon Village for property tax purposes; (ii) they agreed upon a damages figure for Visteon’s breach of the Tax Abatement Agreements; and (iii) they

agreed that Visteon would assist the Township to meet its payment obligations for the Bonds, since the Parties knew that the projected tax revenue for Visteon Village would not be enough to support the bond payments and would result in a shortfall. (Ex. 4, Complaint, ¶ 27). Visteon's commitment to assist the Township with the shortfall is set forth in Paragraph 3 of the Agreement, which states:

Visteon acknowledges that the Township assisted Visteon in the construction of the village through the issuance by the Township of certain bonds supported by the full faith and credit of the Township, the proceeds of which were used to help construct the Village. To the extent the property tax payments made by Visteon to the Township pursuant to Section 2.2, are inadequate to permit the Township to meet its payment obligations with respect to that portion of the bonds that were used to help fund the Village, *Visteon hereby agrees to negotiate with the Township in good faith to determine the amount of the shortfall with respect to those bonds and make a non-tax payment, payment in-lieu-of tax, (PILOT) to the Township to assist the Township in making timely payments on the bonds.* [Ex. 4(A), Agreement, ¶ 3 (emphasis added).]

Thus, under the terms of Paragraph 3 of the Agreement, Visteon has two distinct contractual obligations: (1) to negotiate with the Township in good faith to determine the amount of the shortfall, and (2) to assist the Township in making "timely" payments on the Bonds. (Ex. 4, Complaint, ¶ 31).

As noted above, pursuant to the Agreement, the Parties agreed to a market value of Visteon Village at \$60 million, which yielded a taxable value of \$30 million. (Ex. 4, Complaint, ¶ 28). However, this taxable value was only 20% of the original taxable value used to create the payment Schedules for the bonds. *Id.* Therefore, sufficient funding for all of the bond payments was a known mathematical impossibility. *Id.* Given this drastic disparity between the property tax value assumption (\$300 million) used to develop the Schedules and the agreed upon value under the Agreement (\$60 million), the Parties knew at the time they entered into the Agreement that the captured taxes would be insufficient to make the required bond payments and Visteon's assistance would be needed.

C. APPROVAL OF THE AGREEMENT BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT AND VISTEON'S ADMISSION THAT THE SHORTFALL WILL OCCUR

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