STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

VAN BUREN CHARTER TOWNSHIP,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Docket No. 156018

v.

Court of Appeals No. 331789

VISTEON CORPORATION,

Defendant-Appellee,

Wayne County Circuit Court
LC No. 15-008778-CK
Hon. Muriel D. Hughes

**DEFENDANT-APPELLEE VISTEON CORPORATION'S ANSWER
TO PLAINTIFF'S APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL**

DICKINSON WRIGHT PLLC
Michael C. Hammer (P41705)
Robert F. Rhoades (P28160)
Phillip J. DeRosier (P55595)
Doron Yitzchaki (P72044)
500 Woodward Avenue, Suite 4000
Detroit, MI 48226
(313) 223-3500

Dated: July 25, 2017

*Attorneys for Defendant-Appellee Visteon
Corporation*

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. **This Court reviews summary disposition and justiciability issues de novo, regardless whether MCR 2.116(C)(4) or (C)(10) applies.**

Visteon agrees with the Township that this Court reviews de novo the trial court's decision to grant summary disposition in Visteon's favor. *Maiden v Rozwood*, 461 Mich 109, 118; 597 NW2d 817 (1999). As it did in the Court of Appeals, the Township takes issue with whether a motion for summary disposition on ripeness grounds is properly evaluated under MCR 2.116(C)(4), which provides for summary disposition when "[t]he court lacks jurisdiction of the subject matter." (See the Twp's App for Lv at 28-32). This is a non-issue because the Township acknowledged in its Court of Appeals briefing that even if MCR 2.116(C)(4) does not apply, "the proper basis for Visteon's motion was a motion for summary disposition brought under MCR 2.116(C)(10)." (See the Twp's COA Br at 30, citing *Broz v Plante & Moran*, unpublished per curiam opinion of the Court of Appeals, issued May 17, 2016 (Docket No. 325884)).⁹ Whether a ripeness challenge is evaluated under MCR 2.116(C)(4) or (C)(10), the applicable review standard is the same.

"In considering a motion challenging jurisdiction under MCR 2.116(C)(4), a court must determine whether the affidavits, together with the pleadings, depositions, admissions, and

⁹ The Township makes much of the fact that the parties distinguished between MCR 2.116(C)(4) and (C)(10) during the hearing on Visteon's motion for summary disposition. Regardless, the fact of the matter is that while Visteon did bring its motion under MCR 2.116(C)(4) and (C)(8), the Township submitted matters outside of the pleadings in its response. As the Court of Appeals observed, that brought MCR 2.116(C)(10) into play. (COA Op at 2-3).

documentary evidence, demonstrate that the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction.” *CC Mid West, Inc v McDougall*, 470 Mich 878; 683 NW2d 142 (2004). Similarly, “[i]n evaluating a motion for summary disposition brought under [MCR 2.116(C)(10)], a trial court considers affidavits, pleadings, depositions, admissions, and other evidence submitted by the parties” to determine whether “the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” *Maiden*, 461 Mich at 120. Under either standard, justiciability-related questions such as ripeness are questions of law that are reviewed de novo. *Michigan Chiropractic Council v Commr of Office of Fin & Ins Services*, 475 Mich 363, 369; 716 NW2d 561 (2006), overruled in part on other grounds by *Lansing Sch Ed Ass'n v Lansing Bd of Ed*, 487 Mich 349; 792 NW2d 686 (2010). For that reason, the Township’s protestations about discovery being incomplete ring hollow. No amount of discovery was going to change the simple fact that the Township’s lawsuit was premature.

B. The Court of Appeals did not decide the “merits” of the Township’s claims in affirming the trial court’s ripeness determination.

For its first argument, the Township claims that the Court of Appeals improperly “adjudicated the rights and obligations of the parties” in evaluating the ripeness of the Township’s claims. (See the Twp’s App for Lv at 15). It did no such thing. In concluding that the Township failed to present an “actual controversy” justifying declaratory relief or permitting a breach of contract claim to proceed, the Court of Appeals merely observed that the plain language of the settlement agreement did not support the Township’s position that Visteon was required to “negotiate” the “amount” of a bond payment shortfall that had yet to occur. (COA Op at 4-6, 8). In reaching that common sense conclusion, the Court of Appeals hardly reached “the substantive merits of the case.” On the contrary, the Court simply recognized that Visteon “could not have breached its contract by failing to perform before the time of performance has

even arrived.” (*Id.* at 8). In other words, the Court expressly reserved the *merits* of the Township’s claims for future determination.

The Township seems to think that if a court even looks at the provisions of the parties’ contract in evaluating a ripeness issue, then it has improperly reached the “substantive merits” of the case. But if that were true, a court could never assess whether a breach of contract claim is ripe. In order to make such a determination, it is necessary to understand what the contract requires and whether a justiciable controversy exists. The federal court’s decision in *Moynihan v West Coast Life Ins Co*, 607 F Supp 2d 1336 (SD Fla, 2009), provides a good example. The plaintiff in *Moynihan* filed a lawsuit for breach of contract seeking proceeds under a life insurance policy. The plaintiff claimed that “once the insured [was] deceased and a death certificate [was] presented, he [was] entitled to the policy’s benefits.” *Id.* at 1338. The court, however, found the dispute to not yet be “ripe for adjudication” because there was an incontestability provision “permit[ting] the Defendant to investigate and determine whether the policy should have issued in the first place if death occurs during the first two years of the policy’s life.” *Id.* The court observed that there had “not been any determination by the [insurer] as to whether the policy should have issued or how it plan[ned] to proceed,” and concluded that “until it exercise[d] its rights under the policy to deny the claim, Plaintiff cannot maintain that there has been a breach or that his rights have been affected.” *Id.* at 1339.

This case is no different. The crux of both the Township’s declaratory judgment and breach of contract claims is its allegation that Visteon is responsible for any bond payment “shortfall”:

COUNT I – BREACH OF CONTRACT

* * *

WHEREFORE, the Township requests this Court enter judgment in its favor and against Visteon *for the total amount of any shortfall* on the Bond debt service payments pursuant to the Parties' Agreement. . . .

COUNT II – DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

* * *

71. WHEREFORE, the Township . . . respectfully requests the Court enter a declaration that Visteon is responsible for *payment of any shortfall* in the Bond debt service payments [See Township Am Compl at 14-15, **Exhibit A** (emphasis added).]

In order to determine whether that dispute was ripe for review, the Court of Appeals appropriately applied the plain language of the settlement agreement to conclude that without an actual “shortfall,” there was nothing to “negotiate” and thus no “actual controversy” for purposes of the Township’s declaratory judgment claim, nor a ripe breach of contract claim.¹⁰ This was not a determination of the “merits” of the Township’s claims.

C. The Court of Appeals properly determined that the Township’s declaratory judgement and breach of contract claims are not ripe.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals’ assessment of the ripeness issue is entirely correct. The doctrine of ripeness “prevents the adjudication of hypothetical or contingent claims before an actual injury has been sustained.” *Michigan Chiropractic Council*, 475 Mich at 371 n 14. Thus, “[a] claim is not ripe if it rests upon ‘contingent future events that may not occur as anticipated, or indeed may not occur at all.’” *Id.*

These ripeness principles are incorporated into MCR 2.605(A), which explicitly requires “a case of actual controversy” before declaratory relief may be granted:

(1) In a case of actual controversy within its jurisdiction, a Michigan court of record may declare the rights and other legal relations of an interested party

¹⁰ The Township’s attempt to read anything more into the settlement agreement is contrary to its unambiguous language. It goes without saying that “unambiguous contracts are not open to judicial construction and must be enforced as written.” *McDonald v Farm Bureau Ins Co*, 480 Mich 191, 198; 747 NW2d 811 (2008) (citation omitted and internal quotation marks omitted).

seeking a declaratory judgment, whether or not other relief is or could be sought or granted.

(2) For the purpose of this rule, an action is considered within the jurisdiction of a court if the court would have jurisdiction of an action on the same claim or claims in which the plaintiff sought relief other than a declaratory judgment.

As this Court has explained, the “actual controversy” requirement is ““a summary of justiciability as the necessary condition for judicial relief.”” *Associated Builders & Contractors v Dir of Consumer & Indus Servs Dir*, 472 Mich 117, 125; 693 NW2d 374 (2005), overruled in part on other grounds by *Lansing Sch Ed Ass’n v Lansing Sch Dist Bd of Ed*, 487 Mich 349; 792 NW2d 686 (2010) (citation omitted). See also *Pontiac Police & Fire Retiree Prefunded Group Health & Ins Trust Bd of Trustees v City of Pontiac No 2*, 309 Mich App 611, 624; 873 NW2d 783 (2015) (“The existence of an ‘actual controversy’ is a condition precedent to invocation of declaratory relief.”) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

An “‘actual controversy’ under MCR 2.605(A)(1) exists . . . ‘where a declaratory judgment or decree is necessary to guide a plaintiff’s future conduct *in order to preserve his legal rights.*’” *Associated Builders*, 472 Mich at 126, quoting *Shavers v Attorney General*, 402 Mich 554, 588-589; 267 NW2d 72 (1978) (emphasis added). See also *Recall Blanchard Comm v Sec’y of State*, 146 Mich App 117, 121; 380 NW2d 71 (1985) (explaining that although there are “some instances” in which “a declaratory judgment is appropriate even though actual injuries or losses have not yet occurred,” an actual controversy will only be found to exist in such cases “where a declaratory judgment is necessary to guide a litigant’s future conduct *in order to preserve the litigant’s legal rights*”) (emphasis added). For example, courts commonly hold that a dispute is ripe for declaratory relief if an individual faces some imminent governmental action in violation of his or her rights if the individual engages in certain conduct. See, e.g., *UAW v Central Mich Univ Bd of Trustees*, 295 Mich App 486, 496-497; 815 NW2d 132 (2012)

(granting declaratory relief to public employees seeking to protect their statutory rights from being infringed by a university policy limiting employees' ability to engage in political activity).

The requirement of an "actual controversy" "prevents a court from deciding hypothetical issues," although "a court is not precluded from reaching issues before actual injuries or losses have occurred." *Associated Builders*, 472 Mich at 126 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). The "essential requirement" is that the plaintiff "plead and prove facts which indicate an adverse interest necessitating the sharpening of the issues raised." *Id.* (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

1. The Township's request for declaratory relief is not ripe.

The Court of Appeals properly applied these established ripeness principles in upholding the trial court's dismissal of the Township's request for declaratory relief. As the Court recognized, the parties' rights and duties under their settlement agreement hinge entirely on the potential of Visteon's future property tax payments being "inadequate to permit the Township to meet its payment obligations with respect to that portion of the bonds that were used to help fund the Village." (COA Op at 5, citing Agreement and Mutual Release, ¶ 3). Only then does Visteon have any obligation to "negotiate with the Township in good faith to determine the amount of the shortfall" and, if applicable, "make a [PILOT payment] to the Township to assist the Township in making timely payments on the bonds." (*Id.*).

As it did in the Court of Appeals, the Township maintains that it does not matter that there has not been an actual bond payment shortfall because a declaratory judgment can issue "before an actual injury occurs," and because such relief is necessary here to "guide" the Township's "future conduct" in planning and budgeting for a potential shortfall. (See the Twp's App for Lv at 22-23). The Township, however, misunderstands the purpose of declaratory relief

and when it is appropriate. While declaratory relief *can* be directed at prospective rights and duties – including contractual ones – in order to “guide a plaintiff’s future conduct,” it must be necessary to “preserve his legal rights.” *Associated Builders*, 472 Mich at 126. Moreover, the rights in dispute, contractual or otherwise, may not be “so remote and speculative as to be hypothetical and abstract.” *Merkel v Long*, 368 Mich 1, 13; 117 NW2d 130 (1962) (citations omitted). See also *Citizens for Common Sense in Gov’t v Attorney General*, 243 Mich App 43, 55; 620 NW2d 546 (2000) (“Generally, where the injury sought to be prevented is merely hypothetical, a case of actual controversy does not exist.”).

Merkel illustrates the difference. In that case, three sisters received substantial inheritances, which were placed in trust, after their father died. An issue arose concerning the effect of certain provisions of their father’s will on “what [would] happen to the corpus of their trusts at their deaths.” *Merkel*, 368 Mich at 11. After reaching “an agreement to settle [the controversy],” the sisters sought approval of the chancery court. *Id.* at 4. In finding declaratory relief to be appropriate, the *Merkel* Court observed that “the question of interpretation of the will [was] not academic” because, simply put, the sisters would eventually die. *Id.* at 14. It was thus appropriate for the chancery court to provide “knowledge and certainty” as to how their trust funds would be distributed given that eventuality:

Here, the question of interpretation of the will is not academic. Rights of parties to the agreement are affected directly. The question will not become moot. When the daughters die it must at all events be decided. It will be no different question then than now. . . . [*Id.* (citation omitted).]

Another good example is *City of Huntington Woods v City of Detroit*, 279 Mich App 603; 761 NW2d 127 (2008). At issue in that case was whether the City of Detroit could sell Rackham Golf Course to a private developer. The plaintiffs filed a lawsuit seeking a declaration that deed restrictions on the property precluded such a sale. At the time of the lawsuit, the property had

not been sold and no restrictive covenants had been violated, but the City of Detroit had begun soliciting bids. *Id.* at 616. The Court of Appeals concluded that these circumstances were sufficient to take the parties' dispute over the scope of the deed restrictions out of the "hypothetical" realm:

Defendant is correct in its assertion that, when this litigation was initiated, there had been no violation of the restrictive covenants contained in the Rackham deed and the property had not been sold. However, even though a sale had not been effectuated, it was obvious that defendant was not only seriously considering sale of the property but had begun, through the issuance of a formal RFP, to solicit bids. Hence, the primary issue asserted by plaintiffs regarding the right or authority of defendant to sell the property, and pursuant to what terms, comprised an issue that was not hypothetical. . . . As a result, plaintiffs' request for declaratory relief properly seeks a determination regarding defendant's authority to sell the property. The trial court was not precluded from ruling whether the sale was authorized and under what conditions merely because a sale had not yet been effectuated. [*Id.* at 616-617.]

This case is different, as any "dispute" between Visteon and the Township is purely "academic" and "hypothetical." The occurrence of a shortfall, unlike the eventuality of the sisters' death in *Merkel*, is far from certain. And even if there were to be a shortfall, whether it would result in Visteon making a PILOT payment to the Township is pure speculation, as it would depend on whether the shortfall is attributable to "that portion of the bonds used to help fund the Village." See *Citizens*, 243 Mich App at 55 ("[P]laintiff's claim is based not on actual harm, but on its speculation concerning how the Secretary of State would have acted if called on to do so."). Because these are "contingent future events that may not occur as anticipated, or indeed may not occur at all" (as demonstrated by the bond refinancing that took place during the course of this very case), they do not give rise to an "actual controversy." *Michigan Chiropractic Council*, 475 Mich at 371 n 14 (citation omitted).

The Township asserts that because any assistance Visteon would provide is for the purpose of ensuring "timely" payments on the bonds, the Township "does not need to wait until

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